# FILED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 20 1993

CLER	K, 9	YRBEN	1E	COURT	
Ву		<u> </u>			
	Chief	Deputy	Ck	ark	

JOHN C. MARQUARD,

Appellant,

Vs.

CASE NO. 81,341

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D. E. BURDEN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 786438
112-A Orange Avenue
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 20, 1991, police arrested John Christopher Marquard<sup>1</sup>, the appellant, on an active warrant charging him with murder. (R 4-6) On December 6, 1991, the St. Johns County, Fall Term, Grand Jury indicted Marquard for principle to first degree murder. (R 1) It should be noted that this was an interim presentment and the Fall Term again met April 24, 1992, and issued a supersedeas indictment charging Appellant with first degree murder<sup>2</sup> and armed robbery<sup>3</sup> of Stacey Ann Willets. (R 41) On December 18, 1991, Appellant filed his notice of intent to participate in discovery. (R 21) On April 14, 1992, the State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this brief, counsel will use Appellant and Marquard interchangeably.

<sup>2 § 782.04(1)(</sup>a)1 and/or 2, Fla.Stat.

<sup>§ 812.13(1)</sup> and (2)(a); § 775.087(2)(a), Fla. Stat.

moved for a determination of Appellant's competency to stand trial. (R 32) On April 24, 1992, the State motioned for an order directing production of psychiatric records of Appellant and a motion for handwriting exemplars. (R 44) On May 12, 1992, the court granted the order directing Appellant to submit the handwriting exemplars and for the production of medical or psychiatric records of Appellant. (R 66, 67) Counsel for Appellant filed an amended order appointing a neurologist to examine the defendant, and motioned for appointment for an expert mental health professional pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.216(a). (R 102)

On July 13, 1992, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss requesting, inter alia, that the part of count one of the supersedeas indictment pertaining to first degree felony murder be dismissed and that count two of the indictment be dismissed. (R 125) On July 21, 1992, the State filed the traverse to Appellant's motion to dismiss pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(d). (R 147)

Appellant filed motions attacking the constitutionality of the various aspects of Florida's capital sentencing scheme.

(R 115, 137) Appellant also made a motion for statement of particulars regarding aggravating circumstances and a motion for use of special verdict form for the unanimous jury determination of statutory aggravating circumstances. (R 131,142)

Appellant filed two motions to suppress evidence. (R 227, 232) The first motion was to suppress statements made by

defendant obtained on November 19, 1991. (R 227) The second motion was to suppress the knives and camouflage pants seized from Appellant's residence on November 17, 1991. (R 232) Concerning the motion to suppress statements by defendant obtained on November 19, 1991, the court initially denied the motion without hearing. (R 637) However, the court thereafter did take testimony and further argument of counsel and took the motion under advisement. (R 675) Concerning the motion to suppress the knives and camouflage pants, following a hearing, the court reserved ruling on the motion, and allowed the evidence at trial over objection. (R 675, 1317)

Appellant filed an amended motion to dismiss that portion of count one of the supersedeas indictment pertaining to first degree felony murder against the defendant and count two of the same indictment. (R 236) The State filed a traverse of the defendant's amended motion to dismiss. (R 248) The court denied the amended motion to dismiss. (R 282)

The State filed a motion to appoint mental health expert for the purpose of capital sentencing proceedings and an order for mental health examination of defendant, (R 423) and the motion was granted over defense objection. (R 687)

This case proceeded to a jury trial on January 11, 1992. (R 705-1784) Immediately before jury selection began, the trial court reconsidered its earlier order granting the State's motion to have a mental health expert examine defendant. (R 699) After a short discussion the court stated that Dr. Merwin, the

State's expert, could not re-interview the defendant, but rather could sit in on the penalty stage and listen to the defense mental health professional testify and based on that testimony could testify based on what he heard in that session. (R 703)

As jury selection got under way, the trial court denied

Appellant's motion for continuance and change of venue. (R 720-721) During jury selection, the court granted two of the State's cause challenges of jurors. (R 851, 915)

At trial, the court allowed introduction of the victim's shirt and boots over defense objection on relevance (R 981) Evidence of Appellant discussing "silent kills", i.e. how to kill somebody silently without anybody hearing, was permitted over defense objection and subsequent motion for mistrial denied. (R 1077) The State also sought to introduce a picture of the victim (State Exhibit M) over defense objection on the grounds of relevancy. The picture depicted the victim's features of downs syndrome. (R 1091) Shortly thereafter, the State informed the court that Dr. Merwin, their State expert had arrived for the penalty phase. (R 1093) that time the State requested that Dr. Merwin be permitted to sit in and observe the remainder of the trial. (R 1093) The defense objected to Dr. Merwin being present after "the rule" had been (R 1095) The court overruled defense objection. invoked. The court also denied defense subsequent motion for mistrial. (R 1096)

The State introduced the knives allegedly used in the

murder over defense objection, renewing their motion to suppress and chain of custody. (R 1129-1133) The State also attempted to introduce a facsimile of the Kukri knife used by the defendant in the murder. (R 1033) Objection to the introduction of the facsimile of the Kukri knife was overruled. (R 1145) The defense also objected to the testimony of Andrew Beyer who stated that the night of defendant's arrest he made admissions concerning his involvement in the first degree murder during a telephone call from the jail. (R 1257) The court overruled the objection and subsequent motion for mistrial. (R 1274) Appellant renewed the Motion to Suppress his confession and consent to search his apartment, which was denied. (R 1317)

At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief,
Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal and renewal of
motions for mistrial were denied. (R 1368) Appellant requested
a modification of the standard jury instruction; the request was
denied. (R 1379) Based on improper comment by the prosecutor
during final summation, Appellant objected and moved for a
mistrial. The objection was overruled and the motion for
mistrial denied. (R 1415) Following deliberations, the jury
found Appellant guilty as charged of first degree murder and
armed robbery with a firearm. (R 1465)

The penalty phase began on January 15, 1992. (R 1599)

The State presented one witness, the defense one witness and one rebuttal witness for the State. The trial court denied

Appellant's request for special jury instructions. (R 1525) The

trial court allowed over defense objection, the testimony of Patricia Rauls, a parole officer from North Carolina, who testified that Appellant was placed on parole in March of 1991 for a misdemeanor charge. (R 1607) The trial court allowed over defense objection the Appellant's criminal history and other improper statements during the cross-examination of the defense psychological expert, Harry Krop. (R 1672-1674) The trial court also allowed over defense objection, State's forensic psychology expert, Dr. Merwin, to testify that a majority of people he interviewed at the jail suffer from anti-social personality disorder. (R 1704)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with an advisory verdict recommending the death sentence (12-0). (R 1780, 476) The trial court sentenced Appellant to death finding four aggravating circumstances and a number of non-statutory mitigating circumstances. (R 538-543) The trial court sentenced Appellant for a term of natural life imprisonment on the armed robbery. (R 547) Following a short hearing, Appellant's motion for new trial was denied by the trial court. (R 1792) Appellant filed a notice of appeal on February 24, 1993. (R 582) This Court has jurisdiction. Art.V, Section 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Jerry Stalvy, a 16-year old student was hunting near Deer Bottom Road in St. Johns County, November of 1991. (R 957) While chasing his hunting dogs, he came across bones and some rags that appeared to be clothing. (R 958) After coming across the bones, Jerry Stalvy ran off to get his parents, who thereafter summoned the police. (R 960)

Susan Biesiada, evidence technician for the St. Johns County Sheriff's office testified that she found clothing within a ten foot area, and that human bones were scattered through out the sixty foot diameter of the clearing. (R 978) The human remains were taken to the medical examiner's office for examination. (R 1007) The medical examiner found that there was an incised wound on one of the spinous processes in the mid-neck, and there appeared evidence of previous orthodontic care in the teeth. (R 1007-1008)

Several days later the dental records of the suspected victim, Stacey Willets were brought down from Wilmington, N. C. (R 1008) Upon examination of the dental records, it was determined that the remains were those of Stacey Willets. (R 1009) Upon further examination of the remains, it showed that the fifth vertebrae on the cervical vertebrae showed a cut defect and the medical examiner testified that one-third had been cut off with a heavy-blade instrument. (R 1011) There were also knife like injuries in the left chest area of the fifth and sixth rib. (R 1012) The medical examination determined the cause of

death was due to multiple knife wounds. (R 1013)

Patricia Greenhalgh, a detective with the St. Johns County Sheriff's Department, stated that keys belonging to the victim Stacey Willets' 1981 Mustang were found among the skeletal remains in St. Johns County. (R 1022) Detective Greenhalgh went to North Carolina to interview a suspect Michael Abshire. (R 1026) After providing Miranda warnings, said suspect made a statement. (R 1030) Detective Joseph Freshley of the Pinellas Park Police Department questioned Marquard of the whereabouts of Stacey Willets. (R 1057) According to Detective Freshley, Marquard admitted meeting the victim, Stacey Willets in Wilmington, North Carolina. Subsequently, they left North Carolina with Mike Abshire, and went to Florida, got a motel, and began looking for work. (R 1061) Marquard could not find work, but Stacey was offered work and refused. (R 1062) Several arguments broke out in that Stacey Willets was not pulling her weight. (R 1062) Then, according to Marquard, Stacey Willets came home one night with another man, stating she was leaving. (R 1062) Marquard then asked to buy her car, and she then sold it for \$200 and left. (R 1062) She later returned asking for money and Marquard refused. (R 1062)

Mike Abshire testified that he met Marquard in Wilmington, North Carolina in 1989. (R 1086) Thereafter they discussed leaving North Carolina for Florida for job prospects. (R 1087) In May 1991, Abshire met Stacey Willets and took her to Marquard's house where the three decided to move south together,

using Stacey's car and sharing expenses. (R 1089-1090)

On Sunday, June 23, 1991, the three packed Stacey Willets' car and headed to Georgia to find work. Abshire and Appellant brought their collection of knives along, including a Kukri knife. (R 1097-1098) Appellant also had a set of keys made of Stacey Willets' car without her knowledge. (R 1099) During a stop in South Carolina, Appellant told Abshire that they should find a lonely spot on the road, that he was going to kill Stacey Willets because he was tired of arguing with her. (R 1100)

The plan to kill Stacey Willets in South Carolina was abandoned and the three arrived in St. Augustine the next day at dawn. (R 1003) The three checked into a motel and began to look for work. (R 1103) The following day the three continued to look for work and then checked into a new motel. (R 1103) However, at the end of the second day, Stacey Willets and Appellant had a bad argument about locating work. (R 1103)

The third day in St. Augustine, Appellant and Mike Abshire went to a rooming house that Appellant had stayed at in the past. (R 1111) Appellant arranged to get a room there for two. (R 1112) After leaving the rooming house, Abshire questioned Appellant about why he had not told the person at the rooming house about Stacey Willets. (R 1112) At that point, Appellant again brought up the subject of killing Stacey Willets. (R 1112) The two then drove back to their motel and planned the murder of Stacey Willets. (R 1113) They ultimately agreed to

take Stacey Willets to a secluded area in the woods and kill her. (R 1113)

When Abshire and Appellant arrived back at the motel, they told Stacey Willets they were going to a party that night, off State Road 16. (R 1115) Between 8 and 10 p.m. the three drove out State Road 16 looking for a bridge with water under it, where there would be alligators to destroy evidence of the (R 1116-1118) After finding a suitable location, murder. Abshire and Appellant stopped the car and put on their military web gear with assorted knives strapped to their bodies. (R 1121) The three then walked single-file into the woods with Abshire first, Stacey Willets second and Appellant third. Because of the dense foliage and darkness, Abshire and Appellant could not find a trail to the water, so Abshire and Appellant decided to head back to the car. (R 1123) At that point Abshire heard a muffled scream and turned and saw Appellant grabbing Stacey Willets from behind and stabbing her. (R 1125) then threw Stacey Willets to the ground. (R 1125) Willets still appeared to be alive, so Appellant put her face in the water until she stopped breathing. (R 1126) Appellant then told Abshire to stab the victim, which he did. (R 1126) Appellant and Abshire took their knives and hacked at Stacey Willets' neck. (R 1126) Appellant then produced a folding shovel and they began digging a hole but there were too many roots. So they chopped shrubs and covered Stacey Willets' body with branches. (R 1126) Abshire and Appellant then went back to

the motel, washed up and disposed of the victim's personal items. (R 1164, 1165)

The night of Appellant's arrest, he called back to his house and spoke to Andrew Beyer. (R 1262) Beyer asked Appellant if it was true he committed first degree murder. (R 1262) Appellant stated," yeah," it was with Michael Abshire; they both did an equal amount of killing to keep the other person quiet. (R 1263) Also on the night of Appellant's arrest, he was questioned by Detective Frank Welborn. Appellant was read his rights and signed a waiver of rights form. (R 1327) During the interview, Detective Welborn obtained information from North Carolina from detectives who had interviewed Michael Abshire. (R 1329) Hours later, the defendant was re-read his rights and executed a Miranda form and made a taped confession. (R 1335-1345)

In Appellant's confession, he stated that the night of Stacey Willets' death, they were going to see "Howey" at a place by the river. (R 1337) Once there, they pulled off on a dirt road, exited the car and stating walking with Michael Abshire in the lead. (R 1337) They got on a trail which had a dead end, and then Mike Abshire starting back-tracking. (R 1338) At that point something happened. Appellant did not remember exactly what, but the next thing he knew Stacey Willets was lying down, face down on the ground and he was standing over her with a dagger in his hand. (R 1338) That was the extend of what Appellant could remember except for covering her up in a panic and "just running the hell away." (R 1339)

#### PENALTY PHASE

#### A. Aggravation.

Over strenuous objection, Patricia Rauls, Parole
Officer in the State of North Carolina testified that Appellant
was placed on parole in March of 1991 for a misdemeanor larceny.
(R 1600-1609) Patricia Rauls further testified that Appellant
failed to appear for his June 24, 1991, parole reporting, and as
a result, a violation report was submitted in July of 1991. (R
1600-1609)

#### B. MITIGATION

Appellant called psychologist, Harry Krop, to present mitigation evidence. (R 1613) Dr. Krop testified that Marquard came from a dysfunctional family, in that his parents separated when he was six or seven years old. (R 1625) There was a bitter divorce and custody battle where Appellant stayed with his mother, while his two sisters stayed with his father. (R 1625) According to Marquard's father, the reason they obtained custody of the two daughters was because the mother was physically abusive of the two girls. (R 1625) According to the mother, Marquard's father was physically abusive to her and also to Marquard. (R 1625) Marquard reported that he was physically abused by both of his parents. (R 1625)

Harry Krop further testified that Appellant's mother has a history of alcohol abuse and was a treated in-patient for alcoholism. (R 1625) After Appellant's parents' marital separation, he did not see his father for four to five years. (F

1625) According to the mother, Appellant did not see his father during that period because he was afraid of him. (R 1625) As he was talking with both parents, Harry Krop determined that there was a behavior pattern on the part of both parents, referred to as parental alienation syndrome. (R 1626) A parental alienation syndrome is essentially when one parent, usually a custodial parent, does things or says things to a child or in front of a child which attempts, either consciously or unconsciously to alienate the child from the other parent. (R 1626)

At the time of the parental separation, Marquard began to get into trouble. (R 1627) Harry Krop stated that Marquard started drinking when he was eight years old and starting using drugs and alcohol somewhere around eight or nine years old. (R 1627) Marquard also reported being sexually abused by a neighbor when he was five or six years old. (R 1627) The abuse consisted of frequent anal sex. (R 1627) Mr. Krop further testified that in the four to five year separation from his father, he also did not see his two sisters who he was very close to prior to their untimely separation. (R 1627)

When Marquard was eleven, he was sent to a group home, because he was having difficulty adjusting to living with his mother. (R 1629) He stayed in the boys home for eighteen months. (R 1629) According to the records at the boys home, Marquard initially did very well made some progress in the first year. At the fifteen to sixteen month period he had a visit with his sisters. (R 1629) After the visit with his sisters,

Appellant regressed and came back talking about more violent types of things. He would talk about weapons. This change was reported by staff as being the result of the influence of Marquard's sisters who were reportedly involved in a motorcycle gang at the time of their visit. (R 1629)

The records also reflected that Appellant's mother was telling Appellant during some of the home visits that she would welcome taking Appellant back home with her. (R 1630) The appellant would then return back to the boys home with the expectation of soon being taken back home with his mother; however, when the boys home staff attempted to get the mother to come in and meet with them and talk about her taking Appellant home, she would not show up for the meetings. (R 1630) With Appellant regressing in the boys home, the staff felt he needed more intensive work and he was referred to what they called a therapeutic foster care situation, which is another family specifically trained in working with emotionally disturbed children. (R 1630) Marquard was in that system for approximately sixteen months. (R 1630) At this time Marquard's father was contacted. Soon thereafter, the father took Marquard home with him for about two years. (R 1630)

During the two year period with his father, Appellant was again having difficulty adjusting. (R 1630) He had difficulty in school, exhibited behavior problems, at which time he was referred to a group home for emotionally disturbed adolescents. (R 1631) Appellant was in the group home for a

short period of time where it was determined that his problems were too serious. Then he was referred to a State hospital where he stayed for the next sixteen months. (R 1631)

After Marquard was released from the State hospital, it was determined that the family situation was too unstable; but because of his age, he really could not be placed back in a foster situation and he was let out to live on his own. (R 1631) From that point on, Marquard simply lived a transient type existence, moving around from one place to another, having difficulty adjusting, and having an unstable environment. (R 1631)

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