# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JOHN C. MARQUARD,

Appellant,

v.

.

₹

CASE NO. 81,341

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #302015 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

in fact placed on parole, was required to report to a parole officer, and in fact violated that parole status. (R. 1605). His status was clearly that of a parolee under any definition of that term. Surely Marquard does not suggest that an individual incarcerated in a county jail for a misdemeanor offense is not under a sentence of imprisonment for purposes of the death penalty act. The claim contained in his brief is equally without merit.

The law is settled that parole status establishes the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator. Likewise, there is no serious dispute about Marquard's parole status at the time of the murder. Instead, Marquard argues that North Carolina parole is somehow different from Florida parole and that, because his North Carolina stance would not be parole-eligible in Florida, that conviction should not be used to establish an aggravating circumstance. That is a distinction without a difference. Marquard was on parole status, and that is sufficient to establish this aggravator.

C. Even if the trial court erred, that error was harmless. Even if it was error to find the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator, that error was harmless. That aggravator is a relatively weak one anyway, and, even if it is not considered in the sentencing calculus, there is no error. <u>See, e.q., Barclay v. Florida</u>, 463 U.S. 939, 955 (1983); <u>see also</u>, <u>Lindsey v. Smith</u>, 820 F. 2d 1137, 1153 (11th Cir. 1987). Given the other aggravating circumstances present in this case, the death sentence is well-supported by the remaining aggravators. Marquard is not entitled to any relief.

- 23 -

#### POINT 8

, ,

# THE ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATOR WAS PROPERLY APPLIED.

Marquard argues that the murder for which he was convicted and sentenced to death was not especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. This argument is predicated upon Marquard's view of the evidence, under which the victim lost consciousness immediately. However, that self-serving interpretation is not supported by a fair reading of all of the evidence.

Only two injuries can be objectively identified based upon the physical evidence. Those injuries are to the front left chest at the level of the fifth and sixth ribs, and an injury to the neck at level of the fifth cervical vertebrae. (R. 1011-1012). When those identifiable injuries are considered along with the testimony of the co-defendant, the conclusion must be that the stab wound to the chest was inflicted before the injury to the neck. Moreover, the evidence was uncontroverted that the chest wound would not necessarily be fatal. (R. 1016-1017). In fact, even the neck wound would not necessarily have caused an immediate loss of consciousness. (R. 1016).

Marquard's co-defendant testified that Marquard held the victim's head under water on two occasions, and that after the first attempt to drown the victim she was still moving. The codefendant testified that the neck wound was not inflicted until after the second drowning attempt. (R. 1126). Taking this testimony as true, it is apparent that Stacey Willets was alive at least during the first attempt to drown her. The evidence does not establish anything other than a brutal and vicious murder which was without doubt torturous to the victim. The facts of this case demonstrate a murder that was per se heinous, atrocious and cruel. <u>See, e.g., Santos v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 1991); <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 578 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1990). This aggravating circumstance is well established, and Marquard is not entitled to relief.

**,** , ,

, 4. j. j.

# THE COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THE FOR PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATOR.

Marquard argues that the trial court should not have found the section 921.141(5)(f) "for pecuniary gain" aggravating circumstance. However, the trial court's sentencing order clearly indicates that the court properly treated the "during a robbery" and the "for pecuniary gain" aggravating circumstances as a single aggravator. (R. 538). This claim is without merit for the reasons discussed at pp. 14-15, above. . . .

# THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED AGGRAVATOR.

Marquard argues that the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating found factor should not have been to exist. Apparently, Marquard claims that there was insufficient support for this aggravator, and that it is unconstitutionally vague. Those claims were not raised by timely objection at trial, and are therefore procedurally barred. See, e.g., Thompson v. State, 619 So. 2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993). Neither of those claims has The trial court accurately summarized the evidence merit. supporting this aggravating circumstance as follows:

> Before Marguard and Abshire left North Carolina, they discussed killing Stacey Ann Willets. Marquard brought it up again while in South Carolina and had tried to persuade Abshire to find a place on the way to Florida to kill her. Marquard, Abshire and Stacey had been in St. Augustine for a few days. Marquard and Abshire went to rent a room for two. On the way back to their motel, they made their final plans to lure Stacey into the woods and kill her. There is overwhelming evidence that the idea of killing Stacey originated with Marquard. The afternoon before she was actually killed Marquard and Abshire carefully concocted a story to lure her into an isolated area. Such planning is proof bevond reasonable doubt of the heightened premeditation required by this aggravating circumstance.

> There is no proof at all of any moral or legal justification. The three identifiable motives are: (1) to get rid of her because she was a burden; (2) to take her property, and (3) to experience killing a human being. None could conceivably qualify as a pretense of moral or legal justification.

(R. 540). In the face of this evidence, which unequivocally establishes that this murder was discussed over a period of days, planned over a span of several hours, and carried out by means of an elaborate and rehearsed scenario, Marquard contends that the heightened premeditation required by this aggravator does not exist. This case demonstrates far more calculation and planning than necessary to support this aggravator. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Durocher</u> <u>v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 997, 1001 (Fla. 1992). In fact, the extreme premeditation present in this case equals, and perhaps exceeds, that found in <u>Fotopoulous v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 784 (1992). <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, <u>Shere v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1991); <u>Slawson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 619 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1993).

. · · ·

, <sup>1</sup> . .

To the extent that Marquard claims that "the murders [sic] were 'planned' to allow Marquard to use the car" and therefore "the planning" aspect overlaps impermissibly with the "pecuniary gain" aggravator, that claim is specious. See, e.g., Durocher v. State, 596 So. 2d at 1001. To the extent that Marquard claims that "the murders [sic] were simply done from an impulse of his personality disorder", there is nothing to even suggest that the murder of Stacey Willets was impulsive. No such evidence was presented, and the facts of this case clearly establish the level of premeditation required to prove this aggravator. This claim is utterly meritless.

- 28 -

THE "ERRORS" WHICH MARQUARD CLAIMS HAD THE CUMULATIVE EFFECTIVE OF DENYING A FAIR TRIAL WERE NOT ERRORS AT ALL.

Marquard identifies five errors which, according to him, "have the cumulative effect of denying <u>Happ</u> [sic] his constitutional right to a fair trial." For the reasons discussed below, no error occurred, and Marquard's claims are without merit.

A. <u>Denial of judgment of acquittal</u>. In his brief before this Court, Marquard argues for the first time that without the testimony of his co-defendant the state's case was entirely circumstantial. For this reason, Marquard argues, his motion for judgment of acquittal should have been granted. However, that reason was not advanced at trial (R. 1368), and Marquard failed to preserve the issue he now raises.

Moreover, even if Marquard's trial objection had been the same one advanced on appeal, it would make no difference. The fact that inculpatory evidence was elicited through a codefendant does not render that evidence inadmissible. The credibility of the co-defendant's testimony is a jury question, and that credibility determination should not be disturbed on appeal.

B. <u>The photographic and physical evidence</u>. Marquard contends that it was error to allow the introduction of evidence of a photograph of the victim, a facsimile of the knife used in the murder, and two items of the victim's clothing. Insofar as the photo of the victim is concerned, it is specious to suggest that the jury is not entitled to know what the victim looked like before she was murdered. See, e.g., Payne v. Tennessee, 111 S. Ct. 2597 (1991). To the extent that Marquard claims that the photo depicted signs of "Down's Syndrome", there is no evidence to support the claim that Stacey Willets suffered from Down's Syndrome. (R. 1091-1092). Regardless, that would not render the photograph inadmissible; the victim is certainly relevant to the trial, and no claim to the contrary can credibly be made. As the court noted, "'murder is the ultimate act Payne of depersonalization. Brief for Justice for All Political Committee, et al. as Amicus Curiae 3. It transforms a living person with hopes, dreams, and fears into a corpse, thereby taking away all that is unique about the person. The constitution does not preclude a state from deciding to get some of that back." Payne v. Tennessee, 111 S. Ct. 2612 at (concurring opinion of O'Connor, J., joined by White and Kennedy).

e 23 e

The items of clothing at issue were recovered at the scene of the murder, and their relevance cannot reasonably be questioned. To the extent that Marquard claims that the kukri knife introduced into evidence did not sufficiently resemble the weapon used in Stacey's murder, the evidence at trial established that the knife was an exact copy of the knife owned by the defendant. (R. 1149).

C. <u>The prosecutorial argument claim</u>. Marquard argues that the prosecutor improperly attempted to bolster the credibility of Michael Abshire during the state's guilt phase closing argument.

- 30 -

Marquard has waived the objection advanced in his brief because he did not object on these grounds at trial. Florida's regularly-enforced contemporaneous objection rule bars consideration of this claim on appeal. <u>See, e.g., Correll v.</u> <u>State</u>, 523 So. 2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988). Moreover, even if Marquard's objection had been sufficient to preserve the issue for review, he would not be entitled to relief because the argument complained of was a legitimate reply to the defendant's closing argument in which he attacked Abshire's credibility. (R. 1393-1394; 1398-1401; 1403; 1405-1408). What Marquard claims was improper was actually a response to Marquard's own argument. He is entitled to no relief.

· • •

D. The sequestration of the mental state expert claim. Marquard's entire strategy concerning the presentation of expert mental state testimony was to prevent the state's expert from evaluating the defendant. Marquard succeeded in preventing an evaluation, and now complains that the state's expert should not have been allowed to observe a portion of the trial. Marquard's successful avoidance of an evaluation by anyone other than his hand-picked expert is inconsistent with the truth-seeking function of the court. The position Marquard takes in his brief stands reason on its head.

No one can question the basic premise that the purpose of a criminal trial is to find the truth. However, Marquard's position throughout these proceedings has been inconsistent with that principle, at least as far as the mental state testimony is concerned. In fact, Marquard objected to any use by the State of

any mental state expert. (R. 701). In raising a mental state defense and avoiding an evaluation by the state's expert, Marquard received a benefit to which he was not entitled. Marquard now seeks a reversal because the field was somewhat leveled. What Marquard fails to recognize is that he was free to allow his hand-picked expert to observe the proceedings as well. The fact that he did not make those arrangements does not entitle him to relief. Moreover, there can be no question that the testimony heard by the state's expert was properly considered by him in reaching his opinion. See, e.g., § 90.904, Florida Statutes. Likewise, there is no suggestion that Marquard's expert did not have access to that information, as well as all of the information gathered during his face-to-face evaluation of the defendant. Marquard cannot identify any prejudice because there is none; he received a windfall and should not be heard to complain. See, e.g., Burns v. State, 609 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1992).

. . . ,

Marquard's claim that he was denied fundamental fairness is no more than hyperbole. The state should have been allowed to obtain its own evaluation of the defendant and, in fact, no federal court to address the issue has held that the state cannot obtain an evaluation when the defendant puts his mental state at issue. <u>See, e.q., Isley v. Dugger</u>, 877 F. 2d 47 (11th Cir. 1989); <u>United States v. Byers</u>, 740 F. 2d 1104 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (<u>en banc</u>); <u>United States v. Cohen</u>, 530 F. 2d 43 (5th Cir. 1976); <u>United States v. Albright</u>, 388 F. 2d 719 (4th Cir. 1968). Moreover, the Supreme Court has noted that "it may be unfair to the state to permit a defendant to use psychiatric testimony

- 32 -

without allowing the state a means to rebut that testimony." <u>Powell v. Texas</u>, 109 S. Ct. 3146 (1989).

. · · .

In this case, the state's ability to rebut Marquard's psychiatric evidence was severely restricted. Speaking to another issue, the Eleventh Circuit held that "[t]he constitution does not require one-sidedness in favor of the defendant." <u>Davis v. Kemp</u>, 829 F. 2d 1522, 1528 (11th Cir. 1987). Marquard has no basis for complaint because he received far more than he should have. This claim is specious.

E. <u>The opinion evidence claim</u>. Marquard complains that the state's mental state expert should not have been permitted to testify that many incarcerated individuals are diagnosed as having antisocial personality disorder. To the extent that Marquard claims that that testimony lacks reliability, that claim is incorrect. <u>See</u>, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual Third Edition, Revised, at p. 343.

Likewise, Marquard's claim that this testimony lacked relevance is also without merit. The state's expert also testified that many incarcerated individuals have personality disorder not otherwise specified, which is the diagnosis made by Marquard's hand-picked expert. (R. 1704-1705). That testimony is relevant to the jury's determination of aggravation and mitigation, and was properly admitted. Of course, antisocial personality disorder is not mitigating. <u>Harris v. Pulley</u>, 885 F. 2d 1354, 1381 (9th Cir. 1988). Contrary to Marquard's claim, he is a common criminal, and he is not entitled to relief.

- 33 -

#### POINT 12

# SECTION 921.141 IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

. . . .

On pp. 77-93 of his brief, Marquard raises a number of boiler-plate challenges to the constitutionality of the death penalty statute. To the extent that Marquard challenges the heinous, atrocious and cruel and the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstances, those claims are addressed above. See, pp. 25-26, 28-29, above. To the extent that Marquard raises a <u>Caldwell</u> claim, that claim is not preserved for review. <u>Rutherford v. State</u>, 545 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1989).

To the extent that Marquard raises claims concerning counsel (p. 81), the trial judge (p. 81-82), the Florida Judicial System (p. 82-85), "procedural technicalities" (p. 88), and "other problems with the statute" (p. 89-93), those claims are barred because they were not raised by timely objection. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Rutherford v. State</u>, supra.

To the extent that Marquard raises a claim concerning the <u>Tedder</u> rule and the hindering governmental function aggravating circumstance, those claims are not present in this case. To the extent that Marquard challenges this Court's review, that claim is meritless.

- 34 -

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, this Court should affirm the conviction and death sentence.